

## RNAi through short interfering RNA (siRNAs) as a Novel Therapeutic Strategy

## **Achim Aigner**

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Philipps-University Marburg, School of Medicine, Karl-von-Frisch-Strasse 1, D - 35032 Marburg, Germany *Correspondence*: aigner@staff.uni-marburg.de

## ABSTRACT

Since RNA interference (RNAi) was discovered in the late 1990s, it has evolved as a powerful and widely used strategy for the efficient silencing of genes. RNAi relies on the action of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) which are incorporated into a complex termed RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) and guide RISC to its cleavage site on the target mRNA. Thus, the efficiency of RNAi *in vitro* and *in vivo* is determined by the efficacy and intracellular presence of specific siRNA molecules. *In vivo*, the delivery of siRNAs is a major obstacle in the development of RNAi-based strategies also for clinical applications. Various approaches have been explored for the administration of RNAi in different pathological disorders. This review highlights criteria for the development of optimal siRNAs as well as strategies for siRNA stabilization and *in vivo* delivery. Different routes of siRNA administration and various siRNA formulations are discussed. The second part of the review provides a comprehensive overview on siRNA-mediated *in vivo* gene targeting in proof-of-principle studies as well as for the treatment of various pathologies including e.g. viral infection, cancer, liver and renal failure, CNS disorders and pathological ocular neovascularization.

Keywords: gene knockdown, gene-targeting, non-viral siRNA delivery, nanoplexes, RNA interference

## CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	44
DEVELOPMENT OF OPTIMAL siRNAs	
STRATEGIES FOR siRNA STABILIZATION	45
STRATEGIES FOR siRNA DELIVERY	46
POLYETHYLENIMINES IN siRNA DELIVERY	46
PROOF-OF-PRINCIPLE STUDIES IN siRNA APPLICATION IN VIVO	
ANTIVIRAL TREATMENT	48
CANCER	48
OTHER PATHOLOGIES	50
CONCLUDING REMARKS	52
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	52

## INTRODUCTION

The silencing of an endogenous gene through a homologous dsRNA molecule was first described in petunia flowers already in 1990 (Jorgensen 1990; Napoli *et al.* 1990) and it was termed 'co-suppression' or 'post-transcriptional gene silencing'. Only in 1998, Fire *et al.* demonstrated in the nematode *C. elegans* that in the injection of dsRNAs resulted in marked silencing of a gene, which was 10-100-fold higher than the effect of the corresponding antisense RNA (Fire *et al.* 1998). This silencing mechanism, which was subsequently demonstrated to occur in other eukaryotes including mammals (Hammond *et al.* 2000; Hannon 2002), was termed 'RNA interference' (RNAi).

The natural role of this post-transcriptional, sequencespecific and evolutionary conserved gene-silencing mechanism is believed to be a cellular defense against potentially harmful nucleic acids intruding through viral infection or transposons. Studies on the mechanism of RNAi showed that it is based on short double-stranded RNA molecules of about 21-23 nt, termed small interfering RNAs (siRNAs). These siRNAs are generated intracellularly through the cleavage of longer dsRNAs (Hammond *et al.* 2000; Parrish *et al.* 2000; Yang *et al.* 2000; Zamore *et al.* 2000; Elbashir *et al.* 2001a, 2001b) and rely on certain requirements like a monophosphate at the 5' end and a 2-3 nt overhang at the 3' end for enzyme activity (Elbashir *et al.* 2001). Subsequently, the RNase III-type endonuclease Dicer was identified as the enzyme responsible for dsRNA cleavage into siRNAs (Bernstein *et al.* 2001). More importantly, Tuschl and co-workers showed that chemically synthesized siRNA molecules can induce RNAi, thus confirming siRNAs as RNAi effector molecules and establishing siRNA delivery as sufficient for RNAi induction (Elbashir *et al.* 2001).

Gene silencing through RNAi acts primarily through two distinct pathways, i.e. inhibition of translation and mRNA degradation, with the latter being more efficient and thus being in the focus of the development of drugs based on siRNAs (see Dykxhoorn *et al.* 2005 for review). While siRNAs with high or (almost) complete complementarity to their target mRNA direct cleavage and degradation, lesser complementarity leads to inhibition of translation.

For mRNA cleavage, siRNAs are incorporated into a nuclease-containing multiprotein complex termed 'RNA-in-

duced silencing complex' (RISC) (Hammond *et al.* 2000). Unwinding of the double-stranded siRNA leads to activation of RISC, which is guided to the cleavage position on the target mRNA strand. RISC also contains the endonuclease Argonaute 2 (Ago2) which, upon binding of RISC to its target mRNA based on the sequence complementarity with the activated siRNA, is in sufficient proximity for target mRNA cleavage at the position directed by the guiding siRNA (Liu *et al.* 2004; Rand *et al.* 2004; Rivas *et al.* 2005). Since this cleavage generates unprotected RNA ends, the target mRNA molecule is rapidly degraded through intracellular nucleases, and becomes thus unavailable for translation. On the other hand, RISC is recovered for further mRNA targeting rounds, making RNAi a catalytical process which may account for its high efficacy.

#### **DEVELOPMENT OF OPTIMAL siRNAs**

The systematic comparison of the activity of antisense siRNAs and double-stranded siRNAs regarding target position effects, mRNA cleavage fragments and tolerance for mutational and chemical backbone modifications (see below) indicate that both molecules indeed share the same RNAi pathway. Holen et al. have also shown that antisense siRNA leads to maximum depletion of target mRNA expression significantly faster as compared to double-stranded siRNA indicating that the latter indeed enters the RNAi pathway at an earlier stage, and that both molecules compete for the same pathway (Holen *et al.* 2003).

Several studies have allowed the definition of some criteria to identify siRNA sequences with optimal efficacy and high specificity. Some of these rules are rather straightforward and well-known already from other targeting strategies like antisense or ribozyme-targeting, e.g. the test for partial sequence homologies with unintended target genes, and the avoidance of unwanted internal secondary structures within the targeting oligonucleotide and within the mRNA at the target site (Holen et al. 2002; Lee et al. 2002; Bohula et al. 2003; Ding et al. 2003; Kretschmer-Kazemi Far et al. 2003; Vickers et al. 2003; Xu et al. 2003). Other guidelines, however, are more siRNA specific and include the optimal length of 19-25 bp, a GC content in the range of 30-52% and the requirement of symmetric 2 nucleotide overhangs at the 3' end. Additionally, an A in position 3 and a G at position 13 of the sense strand, the absence of a C or G at position 19 and, most importantly, a U in position 10 of the sense strand represent specific sequence biases. Some of these guidelines have been connected to a functional asymmetry, leading to an increased rate of guide strand uptake into RISC, and to the cleavage mechanism of RISC. It was also shown that the thermodynamic flexibility of the positions 15-19 of the sense strand correlates with the silencing efficacy and that the presence of at least one A/U base pair in this region improves siRNA-mediated silencing due to a decreased internal stability of its 3'-end (Donis-Keller 1979; Elbashir et al. 2001, 2002; Holen et al. 2002; Khvorova et al. 2003; Schwarz et al. 2003; Reynolds et al. 2004; Boese et al. 2005).

Algorithms based on these guidelines are readily available from various websites allowing the prediction of optimal siRNAs, see e.g. websites from Ambion (www.ambion. com/techlib/misc/siRNA finder.html), from Dharmacon (http://www.dharmacon.com/sidesign/default.aspx), from the Tuschl lab (www.rockefeller.edu/labheads/tuschl/sirna. html), or from the Whitehead Institute (jura.wi.mit.edu/ bioc/sirnaext). The SDS (siRNA Design Software) provided by the Department of Computer Science, The University of Hong Kong (http://i.cs.hku.hk/~sirna/software/sirna.php) is a software tool that helps to design siRNAs by combining different algorithms. However, since these algorithms are still not perfect, several siRNAs need to be tested experimentally in order to identify maximally efficient siRNAs without unwanted side-effects. The aspect of so-called offtarget effects, i.e. non-specific silencing of non-target genes, is particularly important since in some cases, regions

showing sequence identity with the target gene in only 11-15 contiguous nucleotides were demonstrated to be sufficient to induce RNAi (Jackson *et al.* 2003). Another study reported the downregulation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  mRNA due to offtarget gene silencing even through a 7 nt motif and showed that this effect depends on the sequence context surrounding the complementary region (Lin *et al.* 2005).

Additionally, the activation of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) of the innate immune system may lead to inflammatory responses through stimulation of inflammatory cytokine release upon systemic administration of siRNAs to mice. This is particularly true for GU-rich sequences (e.g., UGUGU; GUCCUUCAA) and seems to depend on the siRNA amounts and on the mode of siRNA delivery (Sledz *et al.* 2003; Heil *et al.* 2004; Judge *et al.* 2005; Sioud 2005). In fact, it was demonstrated in mice that liposomal delivery of unmodified siRNAs leads to stronger interferon responses as compared to naked siRNAs (Sioud *et al.* 2003; Heidel *et al.* 2004; Ma *et al.* 2005).

#### STRATEGIES FOR siRNA STABILIZATION

While RNAi is very powerful through the exploration of the natural intracellular machinery, the major bottleneck for the development of RNAi-based therapies is the stabilization and delivery of siRNAs since naked siRNAs are prone to degradation and do not readily penetrate cellular membranes.

Although siRNAs seem to show higher stability in mammalian cells and physiological fluids than antisense ODNs (Bertrand et al. 2002), chemically unmodified siRNAs have a short half life of no more than 15 min in serum (Dowler et al. (2006) and Aigner et al. unpublished data). To increase stability, various modifications at different positions have been incorporated into either strand. To avoid interference with the gene targeting efficacy, however, modifications in the passenger strand, rather than the guide strand, are often preferred. Phosphorothioate modifications significantly improved serum stability and tissue accumulation (Braasch et al. 2003, 2004), but have been shown to be problematic with respect to toxicity (Harborth et al. 2003). Other backbone modifications include the introduction of 4' thioribose which, after optimization regarding number and position, displayed equal or superior targeting efficacies and increased thermal and plasma stability as compared to non-modified siRNA molecules (Dande et al. 2006). Likewise, 2' modifications have been tested for preservation of siRNA activity. The targeting activity was retained in siRNAs upon partial substitution with 2'-fluoro bases (Braasch et al. 2003; Harborth et al. 2003) or with socalled locked nucleic acids (LNAs) synthesized through introduction of a methylene linkage between positions 2' and 4' (Braasch et al. 2003). The incorporation of LNAs led to higher thermal stability of the hybridization of the siRNAs (Braasch et al. 2003) and to higher stability and substantially increased halflife in serum (Elmen et al. 2005). Likewise, the serum stability of 2'-F-modified siRNAs was increased; in vivo, however, upon i.v. injection into the tail vein they did not display prolonged or enhanced targeting efficacy (Layzer et al. 2004). On the other hand, 2'-O-Me, especially when introduced into the 5' end of the antisense strand, has been shown to inhibit siRNA silencing activity, probably due to interfering with the integration of the strand into RISC or with the unwinding of the siRNA (Prakash et al. 2005). Likewise, a fluorescent chromophore or other mutations abolished gene silencing when conjugated to the 3'end of the antisense siRNA, but not when coupled to the sense siRNA or to the 5'-end of the antisense siRNA (Holen et al. 2002; Amarzguioui et al. 2003; Harborth et al. 2003; Holen et al. 2003). Further improvements regarding plasma stability and siRNA activity were achieved through the combination of multiple chemical modifications like for example 4'-thioribose with 2'-O-Me and 2'-O-methoxyethyl substitutions (Dande et al. 2006) or 2'-deoxy, 2'-F and 2'-O-Me (Morrissey et al. 2005).

#### STRATEGIES FOR siRNA DELIVERY

Another key requirement for successful RNAi in vivo is the delivery of siRNAs to their target cells, target tissues or target organs. Routes for systemic administration include intravenous (i.v.), intraperitoneal (i.p.) and subcutaneous (s.c.) injection, and local delivery can be achieved by direct injection into a target organ or by topical application to a surface. Furthermore, for pulmonary delivery inhalation, intratracheal or intranasal administration can be used, and direct application into the central nervous system avoiding the penetration through the blood-brain barrier is achieved through intraventricular or intrathecal injection. Most intensively explored have been approaches for topical or local delivery of unmodified siRNAs to easily accessible tissues. Local administration routes include intratumoral, intramuscular or subretinal/intraocular injections, the direct application into the CNS, into the vagina or into subcutaneous tissues as well as intranasal application/intratracheal instillation. Since delivery to other organs and elimination through renal filtration is reduced, siRNA amounts required for local administration are generally rather low and delivery does not necessarily require siRNA modifications or formulations. However, these approaches are often invasive and limited to easily accessible tissues.

It has now become clear that the systemic application of siRNAs will rely on the development of delivery strategies. Based on their previous use in gene delivery, i.e. delivery of therapeutic DNA molecules, viral vectors have been applied to RNAi. Due to their inherent ability to transport genetic material into cells, viral vectors provide high transfection efficacy, and adenoviruses, adeno-associated viruses, baculoviruses, lentiviruses and retroviruses are used. However, limited loading capacities, problems in large-scale production and, most importantly, safety risks due to their inflammatory and immunogenic effects and their oncogenic potential pose severe limitations to their applicability (Donahue *et al.* 1992; Lehrman 1999; Liu *et al.* 2003; Sun *et al.* 2003).

The induction of RNAi without viral vectors through direct delivery of siRNAs or siRNA-expressing plasmid DNAs has been studied in vivo using various strategies regarding formulation and administration. Main goals are the cellular delivery of nucleic acids, their efficient extracellular protection against enzymatic or non-enzymatic degradation which is especially a problem in the case of unstable siRNA molecules, and their efficient intracellular release upon endocytosis. Additionally, the absence of immunostimulatory effects and, in vivo, low toxicity, low non-specific binding to biological structures and slow renal (the size of siRNAs is below the threshold for glomerular filtration) and hepatic clearance need to be taken into consideration. The successful systemic application of any siRNA-based drug will largely depend on the optimal combination of all these requirements. DNA expression plasmids for RNAi typically encode palindromic hairpin loops containing the desired siRNA sequence. Upon transcription, RNAs fold back forming double-stranded short hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) which are recognized as dsRNAs by Dicer and cleaved into the desired siRNAs (Zhang et al. 2003). While the introduction of these DNA expression cassettes leads to a long-lasting and highly efficient gene targeting, safety issues need to be considered when using DNA molecules in vivo. In contrast, siRNAs cannot integrate into the genome, are smaller and can be synthesized relatively easily.

While *in vitro* several transfection reagents are available for direct siRNA delivery, the *in vivo* administration of siRNAs is more difficult and requires more sophisticated strategies which are currently under intense research. In principle, approaches include either one or a combination of the following: injection of pure, unmodified or chemically modified siRNAs, physical methods (hydrodynamic injection, electropulsation), encapsulation of siRNAs in liposomes, lipoplexes, cationic lipids, complexation of siRNAs in cationic or other carriers, or chemical coupling

#### of siRNAs to specific carrier molecules.

Hydrodynamic transfection in mice is based on the rapid, high pressure injection of rather large volumes into the tail vein and is mainly used for siRNA delivery into the liver. It was hypothesized that the sharp increase in venous pressure leads to the enlargement of liver fenestrae and to the transient enhancement of membrane permeability of hepatocytes, resulting in siRNA uptake through 'hydroporation' (Zhang *et al.* 2004). Only a few studies have used hydrodynamic transfection for delivery to other organs. Keeping in mind that up to 2 ml are injected into a mouse within seconds, it is obvious that this method is not a reasonable therapeutic approach in humans. Additionally, Zhang *et al.* have shown that hydrodynamic injection also induces a transient irregularity of heart function (Zhang *et al.* 2004).

Liposomes have been employed as non-viral envelopes to increase serum stability through siRNA protection, cellular uptake through endocytosis and serum half-life through reduced renal excretion. Systemic application approaches include intravenous, intraperitoneal and subcutaneous injections; likewise, local or topical delivery through intracardiac, transurethral, intrathecal and intratumoral injection has been described. While previous studies on the in vivo application of antisense-ODNs or ribozymes have shown that several liposomal/cationic lipid delivery systems are toxic, some liposomes allow application in vivo. Many studies use commercially available liposomal reagents like i-Fect, cytofectin GSV, JetSi, lipofectamine, N-[1-(2,3-Dioleoyloxy)]-N,N,N-trimethylammonium propane (DOTAP) or dioleoylphosphatidylcholine (DOPC). When comparing cationic and neutral liposomes (e.g., DOTAP and DOPC, respectively), it seems that the characteristics of the delivery to various tissues or organs are also determined by the charge of liposomal vesicles (Landen et al. 2005). The same may be true for the uptake by macrophages, again determining the efficacy of siRNA delivery to the desired organ (Miller et al. 1998). In studies which rely on the detection of labeled siRNAs, another ambiguity is the fact that it is hard to determine whether the presence of an siRNA label always represents indeed the presence of intact siRNA molecules. While many liposome-based strategies may offer promising approaches, the deeper understanding of liposomal delivery of siRNAs will allow improvements regarding efficacy of cellular uptake and intracellular release, increased organ specificity and reduced toxicity.

Like liposomes, various nanoparticles have been used previously for DNA delivery, e.g. atelocollagen, chitosan and polyethylenimine (PEI) (Boussif *et al.* 1995; Ochiya *et al.* 1999). Atelocollagen, which is a collagen fragment obtained from type I collagen of calf dermis by pepsin treatment, is a posivitely charged molecule with little immunogenicity. Upon mixing with negatively charged siRNAs, complexes are formed based on electrostatic interactions with sizes dependent on the siRNA/atelocollagen ratio. These complexes allow the protection of siRNAs and the sustained release at the injection site.

The deacylated derivative of chitin, chitosan, as well as chitosan-coated polyisohexylcyanoacrylate (PIHCA) nanoparticles have been developed for oligonucleotide delivery (Borchard 2001 for review; Maksimenko *et al.* 2005). More recently, studies have been extended towards PIHCA complexation of siRNAs (Pille *et al.* 2006) (see below).

#### POLYETHYLENIMINES IN siRNA DELIVERY

Polyethylenimines (PEIs) are synthetic, linear or branched polymers with a broad range of molecular weights (Tang *et al.* 1997; Godbey *et al.* 1999; Bieber *et al.* 2001). They are able to form non-covalent complexes with nucleic acids based on their high cationic charge density which is derived from their protonable amino group in every third position (Boussif *et al.* 1995; Behr 1997). Since nucleic acids are compacted in these complexes ('condensation') which allows their cellular endocytosis, certain PEIs have been introduced as DNA transfection reagents (see Kichler 2004; Wagner *et al.* 2004 and references therein). While this complexation occurs with many, if not all, PEIs, the transfection efficacy seems to be dependent on the molecular weight and the degree of branching of the PEI, the complex size, the buffer conditions during complex formation as well as on the N/P ratio, which describes the ratio between nitrogen atoms of PEI and nucleic acid phosphates (see e.g. Werth *et al.* 2006). Additionally, transfection efficacies *in vitro* depend on the cell line which also determines the pathway of complex internalization (clathrin-dependent or lipid-raft-dependent endocytosis (von Gersdorff *et al.* 2006)).

One major issue of nucleic acid delivery to cells, beyond the efficient endocytosis of the nanoparticles, is the subsequent intracellular release of the nucleic acids from the endosomes/lysosomes. PEI-based complexes seem to be efficiently released through the 'proton-sponge effect', which postulates enhanced endosomal Cl<sup>-</sup> accumulation in, and osmotic swelling of, endosomes/lysosomes due to the H<sup>+</sup>-buffering polyamine function of PEI, leading to endosome disruption and enhanced nucleic acid delivery (Boussif *et al.* 1995; Behr 1997). However, some studies have conjugated melittin analogs to PEI as membrane-destabilizing reagent in order to further enhance the transfection efficiency of PEI-based complexes *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Boeckle *et al.* 2005, 2006; Shir *et al.* 2006).

Due to the tight condensation of nucleic acids as well as the efficient uptake of the complexes and their efficient subsequent intracellular release, PEI complexation has been extended towards the delivery of catalytically active RNA molecules. PEI-complexed siRNAs (Urban-Klein et al. 2005; Grzelinski et al. 2006; Werth et al. 2006) or ribozymes (Aigner et al. 2002) are protected against enzymatic or non-enzymatic degradation in the presence of serum or RNase A. More importantly, PEI complexed siRNAs are efficiently endocytosed by cells and, upon their subsequent intracellular release, display full targeting efficacy (Urban-Klein et al. 2005; Grzelinski et al. 2006). Probably this does not apply to all PEIs, since Hassani et al. found that in vivo jetPEI, although efficient for delivering nucleic acids to cells, did not permit development of siRNA activity when used to introduce siRNAs into the mouse brain in vivo at least at the low dose ranges tested (Hassani et al. 2005). On the other hand, complexation of siRNAs has been successfully extended to novel PEIs. Werth et al. described the preparation of a low molecular weight PEI through the size exclusion chromatography-based fractionation of commercially available 25 kDa PEI, and in vitro data indicated low toxicity, high transfection efficacy and efficient protection of siRNA molecules (Werth et al. 2006).

Chemical modifications of PEI have been introduced to improve its biocompatibility and reduce toxicity/immunogenicity, to increase its efficiency for gene delivery through enhanced endocytosis or facilitated intracellular DNA or siRNA release, and to achieve target cell specificity of the PEI complexes. In vitro studies have shown that PEGylation, i.e. the coupling of polyethylenglycol (PEG) to PEI, can improve complex solubility and decrease complex aggregation. Furthermore, PEGylation is able to reduce the interaction with proteins and the activation of the complement system, leading to enhanced circulation time in the blood and to improved biocompatibility in vivo (for review, see Neu et al. 2005 and references therein). Additionally, the covalent coupling of ligands which specifically bind to surface proteins of target cells, e.g. the antigen binding Fab' fragment of the OV-TL16 antibody directed against the OA3 surface antigen, leads to enhanced transfection efficacy in OA3-expressing OVCAR-3 cells (Merdan et al. 2003). The systemic in vivo application of ligand (transferrin)-PEG-PEI/DNA complexes has been shown to exhibit tumor targeted expression in vivo (Kursa et al. 2003).

*In vitro* studies have also demonstrated that the number and length of PEG chains has a strong effect on physicochemical and biological properties of PEG-PEI/siRNA complexes, and that graft densities and chain lengths need to be taken into consideration when identifying optimal PEG-PEIs for siRNA delivery (Mao *et al.* 2006). Taken together, these data indicate that the PEI-mediated, non-viral delivery of siRNAs represents a powerful strategy for gene targeting *in vivo*, and may offer innovative therapeutic avenues in gene therapy. This is particularly true upon chemical modification of the PEIs in order to increase their biocompatibility and reduce their non-specific interactions, and to enhance their target tissue specificity through covalent coupling of tissue-specific ligands. The latter approach leads to the development of double specific compounds combining high target gene specificity (siRNA) and target tissue specificity (modified PEIs) while still allowing systemic delivery.

# PROOF-OF-PRINCIPLE STUDIES IN siRNA APPLICATION IN VIVO

Several proof-of-principle studies have shown the delivery of siRNAs and the siRNA-mediated downregulation of marker genes in different tissues. In postnatal mice, transgene expression in various organs was inhibited upon hydrodynamic transfection (Lewis et al. 2002). More specifically, mice were co-injected with luciferase plasmid and synthetic siRNAs, and already 1 day after injection luciferase expression was inhibited by 80-90% in liver, spleen, lung, kidney and pancreas as compared to control siRNA. It was also shown that the inhibition of target gene expression by siRNAs was dose-dependent. In an EGFP transgenic mouse, efficient silencing was observed in hepatocytes 48 h after injection as determined by fluorescent microscopy (Lewis et al. 2002). The delivery of siRNAs into liver and limb grafts through organ-selective, catheter-based rapid injection was exploited using siRNAs targeting green-fluorescence protein (GFP). Transient down-regulation of GFP expression in transgenic mice was observed in liver- and limb-transplantation models (Sato *et al.* 2005). Furthermore, Heidel *et al.* show that naked, synthetic siRNAs can be administered to mice and downregulate endogenous or exogenous target gene expression without induction of an interferon response (Heidel et al. 2004). Finally, in a subcutaneous mouse tumor model with melanoma cells stably expressing luciferase, the luciferase expression in metastatic hepatic tumors was significantly reduced upon hydrodynamic siRNA injection (Takahashi et al. 2005).

Other proof-of-principle studies focus on the downregulation of reporter genes upon siRNA administration through other strategies. In the same study as described above, direct injection of siRNAs into subcutaneous primary melanoma xenografts, followed by electroporation, resulted in significant reduction of luciferase activity in the stably luciferase expressing tumor cells (Takahashi et al. 2005). Likewise, GFP targeting in s.c. HeLa xenografts was achieved by intratumoral injection of cytofectin GSV/siRNAs, but not antisense ODNs (Bertrand et al. 2002), or in the developing vascular network of chicken embryos upon intracardiac injection of lipoplexes (Bollerot et al. 2006). In green fluorescent protein-transgenic mice overexpressing GFP, intratracheal instillation of GFP siRNA led to markedly reduced GFP expression in the lung, but not in the liver (Lomas-Neira et al. 2005; Perl et al. 2005). Subretinal injection of siRNAs led to decreased EGFP or VEGF levels in the eyes of mice after virally induced EGFP or VEGF transgene expression, respectively (Reich et al. 2003). Intraventricular infusion of specific siRNAs in EGFP overexpressing transgene mice resulted in extensive EGFP knockdown, especially in regions adjacent or dorsoventrally and mediolaterally distant to the infusion site (dorsal third ventricle), with lesser knockdown in more distal regions (Thakker et al. 2004). Likewise, luciferase targeting was demonstrated through intra-cerebroventricular injection of JetSi + DOPEformulated siRNAs (Hassani et al. 2005). Interestingly, in this study the comparison with linear polyethylenimine did not show siRNA activity after PEI-mediated delivery within the dose range tested (Hassani et al. 2005) which may again indicate an siRNA dose-dependence of targeting efficacy.

The *in vivo* delivery of siRNAs targeting the insulin 2 (Ins2) gene via hydrodynamic tail vein injection led to reduced Ins2 mRNA levels (Bradley *et al.* 2005).

In stably luciferase expressing tumor xenografts, Minakuchi *et al.* showed that site-specific administration of atelocollagen-complexed siRNAs inhibited luciferase expression (Minakuchi *et al.* 2004). Likewise, the targeting efficacy of systemically delivered atelocollagen/siRNA complexes has been assessed. In a mouse model of bone metastatic human prostate cancer cells stably expressing luciferase in mouse thorax, jaws and / or legs, i.v. injection of GL3 luciferase siRNAs complexed with atelocollagen resulted in rapid downregulation of luciferase activity (Takeshita *et al.* 2005).

The use of chemically synthesized delivery vehicles rather than naked siRNAs also allows the generation of more sophisticated delivery devices through coupling of ligands as a targeting moiety in order to increase target gene or target cell specificity. One example is the coupling of an antitransferrin receptor single-chain antibody fragment (TfRscFv) to a liposomal nanoplex. Upon systemic administration of fluorescein-labeled siRNAs complexed with this immunoliposome, the specific and efficient delivery of the siRNAs into the tumor cells of primary and metastatic tumors in three different mouse tumor models was observed (Pirollo et al. 2006). More recently, dual-purpose probes, comprising of magnetic nanoparticles labeled with a nearinfrared dye, covalently linked to siRNAs and modified with a membrane translocation peptide for intracellular delivery, were employed for in vivo transfer of siRNAs and the simultaneous imaging of its accumulation in tumors. Upon i.v. injection, GFP silencing was observed (Medarova et al. 2007).

### ANTIVIRAL TREATMENT

Due to the fact that current antiviral drugs or vaccination strategies provide only limited protection or therapeutic options, many studies focus on the siRNA-mediated targeting of virus-relevant gene products. While RNAi has been shown to efficiently suppress virus replication *in vitro*, more recent studies have explored the potential of siRNAs *in vivo*, aiming at the reduction of virus titers as well as at protective effects regarding pathological symptoms and survival.

Tompkins *et al.* challenged mice with lethal doses of the human influenza A virus. Upon administration of siRNAs targeting highly conserved regions of the viral nucleoprotein or acidic polymerase through hydrodynamic transfection, a significant reduction of lung virus titers in infected mice as well as their protection from lethal challenge was observed. The broad efficacy was demonstrated by the protection against lethal challenge with highly pathogenic avian influenza A viruses of the H5 and H7 subtypes, indicating that induction of RNAi through siRNA delivery may be a promising tool for the control of viral infections (Tompkins *et al.* 2004).

Likewise, Ge et al. demonstrated that siRNAs targeting conserved regions of influenza virus genes can prevent and treat influenza virus infection in mice. Here, siRNAs were complexed with polyethylenimine (PEI), and upon slow i.v. injection of small volumes, led to reduced virus production in lungs of infected mice. Since this effect was observed upon administration either before or after virus infection, formulated siRNAs may be useful for therapy as well as for prophylaxis of influenza virus infection in humans (Ge et al. 2004). Additionally, Thomas et al. demonstrated that the removal of residual N-acyl moieties from commerically available linear 25 kDa PEI increases the efficiency of nucleotide delivery and synthesized several linear, fully deacylated PEIs. Complexation of an siRNA targeting the influenza viral nucleocapsid protein gene with deacylated PEIs resulted, upon systemic delivery, in a 94% reduction of virus titers in the lungs of influenza infected mice. Similar results were seen for targeting luciferase expression in the lung

(Thomas et al. 2005).

Respiratory syncytical virus (RSV) and parainfluenza virus (PIV) infections were treated through intranasal application of siRNAs. Intranasal instillation of siRNAs in the presence or absence of transfection reagents showed prevention and inhibition of individual as well as joint infection by RSV and PIV, indicating that inhaled siRNAs may offer a fast, potent and easily applicable antiviral therapeutic strategy against respiratory viral diseases in man. The relevance of screening for efficacious siRNAs was underlined by the fact that the degree of protection matched with antiviral activity of the siRNA in cell culture. Furthermore, excess of one siRNA moderated the inhibitory effect of the other when targeting both viruses in a joint infection, which suggests a 'ceiling effect' of maximum RNAi efficacy. This may probably be due to competition of the siRNAs for the RNAi machinery and may represent a limitation for the abovementioned dose-dependence of siRNA delivery, suggesting rather the use of lower dosages at least for inhalation (Bitko et al. 2005). The drug ALN-RSV01 has been introduced by Alnylam Pharmaceuticals for targeting the human respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) after viral infection. It is the first example of an antivirus siRNA-based therapeutic a phase I clinical study.

In another study targeting a virus of particular interest, siRNAs previously employed as inhibitors of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) viruses (SARS corona viruses, SCVs) were evaluated for efficacy and safety in a rhesus macaque (*Macaca mulatta*) SARS model. In either prophylactic or therapeutic regimens, siRNA-mediated anti-SARS efficacy was observed as determined by monitoring SARSlike symptoms, SCV RNA levels and histopathological and immunohistochemical analysis of the lung. While siRNAinduced toxicity was absent, a relief from SCV infection-induced fever, diminished SCV viral levels and reduced acute diffuse alveoli damage was observed (Li *et al.* 2005).

More recently, siRNA-mediated targeting was explored as a potential therapeutic option in ebola virus (EBOV) infection. Targeting of the polymerase (L) gene of the Zaire species of EBOV with a pool of four different L gene-specific siRNAs delivered through complexation with a commercially available polyethylenimine ('in vivo jetPEI') led in guinea pigs to decreased plasma viremia levels and partial protection of the animals from death when administered shortly before the ZEBOV challenge. The use of SNALPs as a delivery system was even more efficacious, leading to complete rather than partial protection under the same conditions. Interestingly, one of the four siRNAs alone was equally efficient as the mixture, indicating the absence of an additive effect of the combination of different siRNAs targeting different regions of an mRNA molecule (Geisbert et al. 2006). Likewise, in another study, decreased hepatitis B virus (HBV) titers were observed upon siRNA-mediated targeting of HBV RNA. siRNAs were i.v. injected and displayed again a dose-dependent effect which lasted for 7 d. Direct comparison of unformulated with SNALP-encapsulated siRNAs revealed higher efficacy of the latter, correlating with a longer half-life in plasma and liver (Morrissey et al. 2005). Hepatitis B virus replication was also inhibited by siRNA-mediated targeting of the surface antigen region (HBsAg). In mouse models relying on the generation of HBV viral particles upon injection of HBV plasmids, injection of siRNAs resulted in a significant reduction of viral transcript, antigen and DNA levels in the livers and sera (Giladi et al. 2003; Klein et al. 2003).

## CANCER

Several studies have focused on the siRNA-mediated downregulation of genes which have previously been demonstrated as cancer-relevant. Primary goals are the reduction or abolishment of tumor growth and tumor metastasis.

Targeting survivin through intratumoral injection of siRNAs prevented growth of bladder cancer xenografts (Hou *et al.* 2006). Intratumoral administration was also em-

ployed for the delivery of atelocollagen-complexed siRNAs targeting luciferase expression in a xenografted tumor. In the same study, in an orthotopic xenograft model of a human non-seminomatous germ cell tumor, atelocollagen-mediated delivery of siRNAs targeting HST-1/FGF-4 led to inhibition of tumor growth (Minakuchi et al. 2004). Likewise, atelocollagen/siRNA-mediated VEGF targeting was shown to inhibit tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis in a s.c. prostate carcinoma xenograft model (Takei et al. 2004). Furthermore, intratumoral injection of siRNAs targeting the Ewing sarcoma chimeric oncogenic transcription factor EWS-Fli1 led to dose-dependent anti-tumorigenic effects. The comparison between free and encapsulated siRNAs also showed that nanocapsules improved the intracellular penetration of siRNAs (Toub et al. 2006). However, apart from the rather limited therapeutic relevance of this approach of direct administration to the tumor, other studies also indicate that the success of i.t. injections can depend on the integrity of the tumor xenografts with some tumor tissues being too solid for injection of sufficient amounts of volume (Hobel and Aigner, unpublished data).

The targeting efficacy of systemically delivered atelocollagen/siRNA complexes has been assessed in other studies. In a mouse model of bone metastatic human prostate cancer cells stably expressing luciferase in mouse thorax, jaws and/or legs, i.v. injection of GL3 luciferase siRNAs complexed with atelocollagen resulted in rapid downregulation of luciferase activity (Takeshita *et al.* 2005). The 'enhancer of zeste homolog 2' (EZH2) and phosphoinositide 3'-hydroxykinase p110- $\alpha$ -subunit (p110 $\alpha$ ) have been described as candidate targets for inhibition of bone metastasis. In the same system, reduced metastatic tumor growth in bone tissues was observed upon i.v. injection of atelocollagen/siRNA complexes targeting EZH2 and p110 $\alpha$ (Takeshita *et al.* 2005).

Another study employed a mouse model for pulmonary metastases following tail vein injection of melanoma cells. Upon i.p. injection of siRNAs targeting tissue factor, an inhibitory effect on metastasis formation was observed, indicating that tissue factor has a crucial function in promoting lung tumor metastasis (Amarzguioui *et al.* 2006). The fact that reduced metastasis formation was observed independently of the time point of siRNA treatment (i.e., before or after cell injection) may also indicate that siRNA-mediated gene targeting does not represent an only short-term effect.

Nevertheless, other studies employed regular siRNA treatment. Ocker et al. described that i.p. injection of siRNAs targeting bcl-2 inhibited expression of the target gene and led to antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects in pancreatic tumor xenografts when nude mice were treated daily for 24 days. However, biodistribution assays also revealed that siRNAs were quickly distributed to all organs examined and excreted via liver and kidney (Ocker et al. 2005). Likewise, bcl-2-targeting was explored in a mouse model of liver metastasis. Upon i.v. administration of siRNAs complexed with the novel cationic liposome LIC-101, a strong anti-tumoral effect was observed. Delivery of siRNAs to tumor cells in the mouse liver was dependent on complexation with LIC-101 and absent without complexation (Yano et al. 2004). In the same study, LIC-101/siRNA complexes targeting bcl-2 were injected around subcutaneous prostate cancer xenografts in mice. Again, tumor growth inhibition was observed (Yano et al. 2004).

Another novel cationic liposome, based on a synthetic cationic cardiolipin analogue (CCLA), was employed by Chien *et al.* and displayed low toxicity. In SCID mice bearing human breast tumor xenografts, upon targeting of c-raf through CCLA-complexed, specific siRNAs, a 73% reduction of tumor growth was observed as compared to free anti-c-raf siRNAs (Chien *et al.* 2005).

Breast cancer xenografts as tumor model in nude mice were also employed for siRNA-mediated targeting of Ras homologous A (Rho A) which has been described as an indicator of poor prognosis due to increased tumor cell proliferation, invasion and tumor angiogenesis. I.v. injection of Rho A-specific siRNAs complexed with chitosan-coated polyisohexylcyanoacrylate (PIHCA) nanoparticles (Maksimenko *et al.* 2005) led to a marked >90% inhibition of tumor growth and the occurrence of necrotic areas resulting from inhibition of angiogenesis. Furthermore, based on body weight gain, biochemical markers of hepatic, renal and pancreatic function, and macroscopic appearance of organs after treatment for 1 month, the absence of non-specific to-xic effects was observed (Pille *et al.* 2006).

Orthotopic hepatocellular carcinoma xenografts were also the target organ for siRNA-mediated acid ceramidase silencing. Hydrodynamic i.v. injection of siRNAs led to reduced tumor growth and increased sensitivity towards daunorubicin (Morales *et al.* 2007).

Targeting  $\beta$ -catenin was performed in i.p. injected colon cancer adenocarcinoma cells through i.p. injection of liposome-encapsulated siRNAs. Following-up for a period of 70 days revealed in some mice an increase in survival upon  $\beta$ catenin siRNA treatment (Verma et al. 2003). Nogawa et al. exploited the fact that in patients with bladder cancers the expression of high levels of polo-like kinase-1 (PLK-1) is a negative prognostic marker. Targeting PLK-1 through intravesical injection of siRNAs in cationic liposomes prevented the growth of bladder cancer in an orthotopic bladder cancer mouse model (Nogawa et al. 2005). Likewise, focal adhesion kinase (FAK) has been shown previously to play a critical role in ovarian cancer cell survival and metastasis and provided the basis for a recent study on targeting FAK in ovarian cancer xenografts in nude mice. Treatment with FAK-targeting siRNAs in the neutral liposome DOPC resulted in reduction of mean tumor weight by 44% to 72% and in even stronger effects upon combined treatment with cisplatin or docetaxel. With the latter treatment regimen, decreases in microvessel density, in VEGF expression and in MMP-9 expression were observed, as well as increased apoptosis of tumor-associated endothelial cells and tumor cells. Thus, this study also demonstrates additive effects when combining siRNA-mediated targeting and standard treatment with a cytostatic agent (Halder et al. 2006).

Ovarian cancer xenografts were also used as a model system for targeting the oncoprotein EphA2. DOPC-encapsulated specific siRNAs showed highly efficient reduction of *in vivo* EphA2 expression, and treatment of tumor-bearing mice for three weeks with DOPC/EphA2 siRNAs resulted in decreasced tumor growth. Additionally, the combination with paclitaxel displayed an additive treatment effect (Landen *et al.* 2005), again indicating the therapeutic benefit of combining gene targeting with a cytostatic agent.

In other studies, the delivery of siRNAs to tumor endothelial cells, rather than tumor cells, was explored for antiangiogenic intervention. Santel *et al.* demonstrated that siRNAs formulated in liposomes, but not naked siRNAs, are delivered to tumor endothelial cells and that this approach allows targeting of the tumor suppressor PTEN in liver and tumor endothelial cells. Furthermore, in two different tumor xenograft models, systemic administration of liposomally formulated siRNAs targeting CD31 inhibited tumor growth (Santel *et al.* 2006). Targeting of CD31 or Tie2 was also described in another paper by the same group, as demonstrated by reduced mRNA and protein levels *in vivo* (Santel *et al.* 2006).

The antibody-mediated *in vivo* delivery of siRNAs via cell surface receptors was explored by designing a protamine-antibody fusion protein for the uptake of siRNAs into HIV-infected or envelope-transfected cells. In subcutaneous melanoma xenografts derived from envelope-expressing B16 cells, siRNA-mediated targeting of c-myc, MDM2 and VEGF resulted in inhibition of tumor growth (Song *et al.* 2005). In the same study, a fusion protein consisting of protamine and a HER-2 (c-erbB2) single-chain antibody (scFv) was constructed which allowed the specific delivery of siRNAs into HER-2-expressing tumor cells. S.c. melanoma xenografts were also the target in a more recent paper. Electroporation-mediated *in vivo* transfection of specific siRNAs led to downregulation of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor and displayed anti-tumorigenic effects due to increased apoptosis (Nakai et al. 2007).

Other studies exploited HER-2, which is overexpressed and serves as a negative prognostic factor in many tumors, as target molecule for downregulation rather than recognition molecule for ligand-mediated siRNA uptake. Upon i.p. injection of PEI-complexed siRNAs, the efficient delivery of intact siRNA molecules into s.c. ovarian carcinoma xenografts was observed (Urban-Klein et al. 2005). In contrast, the delivery of naked siRNAs was poor, as already described in other studies (see above). Treatment of tumorbearing mice with PEI-complexed HER-2-specific siRNAs resulted in a marked downregulation of HER-2 expression on mRNA and protein levels as well as in a significant antitumorigenic effect, characterized by a ~50% tumor growth reduction as compared to the control group (treated with PEI-complexed non-specific siRNA or naked HER-2 specific siRNA, or untreated) (Urban-Klein et al. 2005).

Recently, the use of PEI-complexed siRNAs was extended to other tumor xenograft models and administration modes. Pleiotrophin (PTN) has been shown to be rate-limiting for tumor growth in several tumors including glioblastoma (Grzelinski et al. 2005) indicating that it may represent an attractive target. In a s.c. glioblastoma xenograft model, PEI/siRNA complexes targeting PTN were i.p. or s.c. (at a site distant from the tumor) injected which again resulted in the delivery of intact siRNAs. Concomitantly, both approaches led to the downregulation of PTN gene expression, as determined on mRNA and protein levels, and significantly reduced tumor growth. The absence of a measurable induction of siRNA-mediated immunostimulation as well as direct comparison with PEI-complexed non-specific siRNAs also indicates the absence of non-specific effects. Furthermore, in a clinically more relevant orthotopic glioblastoma mouse model, intracranial injection of the PTN-specific PEI/siRNA complexes resulted in a marked reduction of tumor growth compared to PEI-complexed non-specific siRNAs or buffer control. Immunohistochemical analysis showed decreased PTN levels thus confirming successful gene targeting and also revealed that the observed antitumorigenic effects were due to reduced tumor cell proliferation (Grzelinski et al. 2006). Keeping in mind that in glioblastoma patients the direct injection of therapeutically relevant nucleic acids (i.e., antisense oligonucleotides) into the brain is already in clinical phase II (Schlingensiepen et al. 2006), the application of PEI-complexed siRNAs targeting glioblastoma-relevant gene products may in fact represent a feasible approach and a promising strategy. In both above-mentioned studies, commercially available jetPEI was used which displayed high efficacy of siRNA protection and delivery, and showed no toxicity at the amounts used (10 ug siRNA per injection with 2-3 injections per week). Additionally, in another study anti-tumorigenic effects of PEI-complexed siRNAs were observed in s.c. pancreatic carcinoma xenografts after intratumoral injection of PEI/siRNAs targeting mutant K-ras (Zhu et al. 2006).

As described above, the PEI-mediated delivery of siRNAs has been extended towards other low-molecular weight PEIs and/or chemical modifications including PEGylation or coupling of specific ligands. The administration of siRNAs targeting VEGF, complexed with a newly developed low-molecular-weight PEI, displayed marked anti-tumorigenic effects in a s.c. prostate carcinoma xenograft model in the mouse, based on the robust downregulation of VEGF expression on mRNA and protein levels. Again, local or systemic toxicity was low or absent with the amounts used for efficient gene targeting (Hobel and Aigner, unpublished data). In a very recent study, a water soluble lipopolymer (WSLP), based on a branched 1800 Da PEI as cationic headgroup, was employed. Intratumoral injection of VEGF siRNAs, complexed with WSLP or PEI, in s.c. PC-3 tumor xenografts led to reduced tumor growth (Kim et al. 2007).

prising of PEGylated PEIs with the peptide Arg-Gly-Asp coupled to the distal end of the PEG chains showed increased specificities for tissues expressing integrins and allowed the targeting of the tumor neovasculature. These ligand-targeted, sterically stabilized nanoparticles were used for the delivery of siRNAs inhibiting the VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR-2). I.v. administration into tumor bearing mice led to selective uptake into s.c. tumor xenografts, downregulation of the target protein within the tumor and inhibition of both tumor growth and tumor angiogenesis (Schiffelers et al. 2004). Likewise, higher tumor selectivity was also achieved by encapsulation of siRNAs into a liposomal nanoplex with an anti-transferrin receptor single-chain antibody fragment (TfRscFv; see above). In human breast carcinoma xenografts in mice, delivery of encapsulated siRNA targeting HER-2 upon repeated i.v. treatment led to inhibition of HER-2 expression and induced apoptosis (Hogrefe et al. 2006).

#### **OTHER PATHOLOGIES**

Many studies on the silencing of pathologically relevant genes have focussed either on local application of formulated or naked siRNAs, or, when applied systemically, on gene-targeting in the liver.

In a study by Zender et al. targeting of caspase 8, which is a key enzyme in death receptor-mediated apoptosis, was explored in different mouse models of acute liver failure. Upon systemic application of specific siRNAs, caspase 8 expression in the liver was inhibited. Consequently, Fas (CD95)-mediated apoptosis was prevented, and this protecttion of hepatocytes resulted in the reduction of experimentally induced acute liver damage. Improvement of survival due to siRNA-mediated caspase 8 downregulation was also observed when the treatment was started later during already ongoing acute liver failure, and in an animal model reflecting multiple molecular mechanisms in human acute viral hepatitis (Zender et al. 2003). Likewise, in another study Fas was directly targeted to protect mice from liver failure and fibrosis in two models of autoimmune hepatitis. Intravenous administration of Fas siRNAs 2 d before induction of hepatitis by ConA abrogated hepatocyte necrosis and inflammatory infiltration and markedly reduced serum concentrations of transaminases. When the treatment was started only one week after initiation of ConA injections, protection from liver fibrosis was observed. Finally, in a more fulminant hepatitis model, an increase in survival rate upon Fas silencing was observed (Song et al. 2003).

Likewise, since Fas-mediated apoptosis has been suggested to contribute to tubular cell death as well, Fas targeting was also performed in kidney after renal ischemiareperfusion injury induced by clamping of the renal artery. The aim of the study was to protect mice from acute renal failure. Pretreatment of mice with Fas siRNAs by different systemic treatment regimens led to reduced tubular apoptosis and less atrophy and hyaline damage as well as to a higher survival rate. An increase in survival rate was also observed upon postischemic injection of siRNAs through the renal vein (Hamar et al. 2004). Finally, siRNA-mediated Fas targeting was employed in a hemorrhage-induced septic acute lung injury model through intranasal application. Upon intratracheal administration of Fas siRNAs to mice subjected to hemorrhagic shock and sepsis, reduced levels of interleukins IL-6, -10, -12, TNF- $\alpha$ , interferon- $\gamma$  and caspase-3 activity were observed. This effect was paralleled by the preservation of the alveolar architecture and reduction of pulmonary epithelial apoptosis and neutrophil infiltration, indicating the feasibility of intrapulmonary administration of siRNAs and the pathophysiological relevance of Fas targeting in this model (Perl et al. 2005). In contrast, targeting heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), a cytoprotective enzyme system in various injury models, led to increased Fas expression and caspase-3 activity. In this study, lung-specific siRNA delivery was achieved through intranasal administration, resulting in enhanced apoptosis in endothelial cells and in the

Schiffelers et al. demonstrated that nanoparticles com-

mouse lung during lung ischemia-reperfusion injury (Zhang et al. 2004). Likewise, in a recent study VEGF transgenic mice were treated with HO-1 siRNAs and exposed to hyperoxia. The observed increased injury indicated that VEGF-induced heme oxygenase-1 confers cytoprotection from lethal hyperoxia in vivo (Siner et al. 2007). Intratracheal instillation was also performed with siRNAs targeting keratinocyte-derived chemokine (KC) or macrophage-inflammatory protein-2 (MIP-2). Local silencing following traumatic shock/hemmorhage led to suppressed signaling for polymorphonuclear neutrophil (PMN) influx in the lung, thereby reducing acute lung injury (ALI) associated with a secondary septic challenge (Lomas-Neira et al. 2005). Recently, silencing of TREM-1 (triggering receptor expressed on myeloid) in a fecal peritonitis mouse model was described. A blunted inflammatory response, impaired bacterial clearance and increased mortality was observed (Gibot et al. 2007).

Systemic administration through hydrodynamic injection has been performed for targeting the organic anion transporter 3 (OAT3) in brain capillary endothelial cells. Upon OATC3 downregulation in the blood-brain barrier, reduced brain-to-blood transport of an OAT3 substrate was observed (Hino et al. 2006). Other studies in the brain rely on intraventricular/intrathecal modes of administration. Intraventricular infusion of siRNAs targeting the serotonin transporter (SERT) led to reduction of SERT expression in the raphe nuclei. Comparable to the established anti-depressant citalopram, the observed downregulation of SERT-binding sites resulted in an antidepressant-related behavioral response (Thakker et al. 2005). Likewise, targeting the dopamine transporter (DAT) through infusion of siRNAs into the ventricular system resulted in significant DAT downregulation and also elicited a temporal hyperlocomotor response. This effect was again similar to the effect observed upon infusion of a pharmacologically selective DAT inhibitor (Thakker et al. 2004). In rats, intrathecal infusion of siRNAs targeting the pain-related cation-channel P2X3 through mini-osmotic pumps led to decreased P2X3 mRNA in the dorsal root ganglia and reduced protein levels in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. While non-specific effects were absent, diminished pain responses in models of both agonist-evoked pain and chronic neuropathic pain were observed (Dorn et al. 2004). siRNAs complexed with polyethylenimine were used for intrathecal injection in a study on the targeting of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunit protein NR2B in a rat model. Primary goal of the treatment was again the modulation of pain which was achieved as indicated by the abolishment of formalininduced pain behaviors following NR2B downregulation. This study also emphasizes the advantage of gene-targeting approaches, showing high specificity even for subtypes of receptors, over antagonists with often somewhat less specific binding characteristics (Tan et al. 2005). Another study on the intrathecal delivery of siRNAs also emphasizes the dose-dependence of specific targeting effects. When delta opioid receptor (DOR) siRNAs were formulated with the cationic lipid i-Fect and delivered as repeated daily bolus doses via implanted intrathecal catheters to the lumbar spinal cord of rats, a blockage of DELT antinociception upon DOR downregulation was observed (Luo et al. 2005). However, the targeting success was dose-dependent with no effect at the lowest  $(0.5 \ \mu g)$  daily dose, indicating the presence of a minimum threshold amount of siRNAs necessary for the induction of RNAi. Thus, insufficient siRNA amounts at the site of action may be one explanation for unsuccessful targeting data which, however, are usually not

published (see Hassani *et al.* 2005 for an exception). Alterations of synaptic function were also achieved through direct siRNA injection into the eye. The amyloid precursor protein (APP) has been shown to play a central role in Alzheimer's disease (AD) through accumulation of its cleavage produce, amyloid  $\beta$  peptide, which is thought to lead to synaptic dysfunction representing an early change in AD. Intraocular injection of siRNAs targeting APP led to reduced levels of APP, as well as of amyloid precursor-like protein 2 (APLP2), in retinal terminals in the superior colliculus, resulting in reduced stimulation-induced glucose utilization in functional imaging experiments suggesting alterations of synaptic function (Herard *et al.* 2005).

The feasibility of RNAi-mediated target gene downergulation through subretinal delivery of siRNAs was also demonstrated by blocking the production of endogenous mVEGF, thus inhibiting laser-induced choroidal neovascularization (CNV) in mice (Reich et al. 2003). This suggested the use of RNAi strategies in the treatment of retinal diseases, including pathological disorders based on abnormal blood vessel growth. Likewise, reduced ocular neovasularization induced by treatment with proinflammatory CpG oligonucleotides or herpex simplex virus infection was observed upon treatment with siRNAs targeting either VEGFA, VEGFR1, VEGFR2, or a mix of the three. Treatment strategies included the local administration of naked siRNAs or the systemic i.v. injection of siRNAs complexed with PEI-PEG-RGD, and indicated the putative relevance of VEGF pathway-specific siRNAs in the therapy of neovascularization-related eye diseases. This was also confirmed in a study by Shen et al. using Sirna-027, a chemically modified siRNA drug targeting VEGFR1. In a CNV model, intravitreous or periocular injection of Sirna-027 led to significant reductions in neovascularization, and intravitreous injection of Sirna-027 reduced retinal neovascularization in mice with ischemic retinopathy (Shen et al. 2006). In a clinical study by Sirna Therapeutics employing Sirna-027 for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration (AMD), stabilization and even improvement of visual acuity was observed (Whelan 2005). Additionally, Acuity Pharmaceuticals has introduced the siRNA drug Cand5 targeting VEGF for intravitreal injection in the same disease. Results of a phase I clinical trial indicated adverse effects only related to the route of administration, but not to the drug, and no systemic delivery

Finally, several studies have demonstrated systemic efficacy of formulated and/or chemically modified siRNAs. Inhibition of intimal hyperplasia is a major obstacle to patency after vein grafting, and the heparin-binding growth factor midkine (MK) has been suggested as a candidate target protein for preventing vein graft failure. In Japanese white rabbits, the perivascular application of atelocollagen/siRNA complexes targeting midkine led to the knockdown of the gradually increasing MK expression after operation, and intimal hyperplasia was reduced. Thus, this strategy may prevent vein graft failure (Banno *et al.* 2006). Likewise, i.v. administration of siRNAs targeting MK led to inhibition of antibody-induced arthritis, indicating the significance of MK as a target molecule for treatment of prevention of rheumatoid arthritis (Yamamoto *et al.* 2006).

Treatment of spontaneously hypertensive rats with liposome-encapsulated siRNAs targeting  $\beta$ 1-adrenergic receptor resulted in efficient delivery into various organs including heart, and in significantly lowered blood pressure due to  $\beta$ 1-AR downregulation. Concomitantly, pretreatment before induction of myocardial infarction significantly improved cardiac function and thus displayed a protective and therapeutic effect (Arnold *et al.* 2007).

Soutschek *et al.* demonstrated that chemical stabilization and cholesterol-conjugation resulted in markedly improved pharmacological properties of siRNAs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Consequently, the i.v. injection of apolipoprotein Bspecific siRNAs led to decreased apoB mRNA levels in liver and jejunum, reduced apoB plasma levels and reductions in total cholesterol (Soutschek *et al.* 2004). In an alternative approach for targeting the same gene product, ApoBspecific siRNAs were encapsulated in stable nucleic acid lipid particles (SNALPs), liposomal formulations based on lipid and non-lipid components. The i.v. injection of SNALPencapsulated ApoB-specific siRNAs into cynomolgus monkeys is also the first example of a study on the systemic efficacy of formulated siRNAs in a non-rodent species. A dosedependent, up to >90% silencing of AOPB mRNA in the liver 48 h after administration, as well as reductions in ApoB protein, serum cholestrol and low-density lipoprotein levels were observed already 24 h after a single siRNA injection. It should be also noted that effects lasted for 11 days, also indicating again a rather long-lasting biological effect (Zimmermann *et al.* 2006).

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Since its introduction less than 10 years ago, RNA interference has gained high acceptance and wide-spread use as an efficacious method for the targeting of any gene of interest. Its success in vivo, which may offer novel therapeutic strategies in various diseases, will largely depend on the development of powerful delivery strategies of efficient RNAiinducing agents like siRNAs, while avoiding off-target and other unwanted side effects. To this end, reagents and strategies are employed which either represent novel approaches or have been described previously for the delivery of other nucleic acids. The choice of the best delivery tool as well as the route of administration will be major determinants of the successful application of siRNAs in vivo. While several studies, published on various siRNA delivery systems, show very promising results, their total number is still loo low to assess the functional performance of any individual strategy. Due to the high relevance of RNAi in *vivo*, however, this is likely to change within the next years. Furthermore, several companies have already reported preclinical data on siRNA in vivo drug development projects, and first clinical trials are already ongoing or completed.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author's work reported herein was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (AI 24/5-1 and Forschergruppe Nanohale, AI 24/6-1) and by the Deutsche Krebshilfe.

### REFERENCES

- Aigner A, Fischer D, Merdan T, Brus C, Kissel T, Czubayko F (2002) Delivery of unmodified bioactive ribozymes by an RNA-stabilizing polyethylenimine (LMW-PEI) efficiently down-regulates gene expression. *Gene Therapy* 9, 1700-1707
- Amarzguioui M, Holen T, Babaie E, Prydz H (2003) Tolerance for mutations and chemical modifications in a siRNA. Nucleic Acids Research 31, 589-595
- Amarzguioui M, Peng Q, Wiiger MT, Vasovic V, Babaie E, Holen T, Nesland JM, Prydz H (2006) Ex vivo and in vivo delivery of anti-tissue factor short interfering RNA inhibits mouse pulmonary metastasis of B16 melanoma cells. Clinical Cancer Research 12, 4055-4061
- Arnold AS, Tang YL, Qian K, Shen L, Valencia V, Phillips MI Zhang YC (2007) Specific b1-adrenergic receptor silencing with small interfering RNA lowers high blood pressure and improves cardiac function in myocardial ischemia. *Journal of Hypertension* **25**, 197-205
- Banno H, Takei Y, Muramatsu T, Komori K, Kadomatsu K (2006) Controlled release of small interfering RNA targeting midkine attenuates intimal hyperplasia in vein grafts. *Journal of Vascular Surgery* 44, 633-641
- Behr JP (1997) The proton sponge: a trick to enter cells the viruses did not exploit. *Chimia* **51**, 34-36
- Bernstein E, Caudy AA, Hammond SM, Hannon GJ (2001) Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. *Nature* 409, 363-366
- Bertrand JR, Pottier M, Vekris A, Opolon P, Maksimenko A, Malvy C (2002) Comparison of antisense oligonucleotides and siRNAs in cell culture and *in vivo*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 296, 1000-1004
- Bieber T, Elsasser HP (2001) Preparation of a low molecular weight polyethylenimine for efficient cell transfection. *Biotechniques* **30**, 74-77, 80-71
- Bitko V, Musiyenko A, Shulyayeva O, Barik S (2005) Inhibition of respiratory viruses by nasally administered siRNA. *Nature Medicine* **11**, 50-55
- Boeckle S, Wagner E, Ogris M (2005) C- versus N-terminally linked melittinpolyethylenimine conjugates: the site of linkage strongly influences activity of DNA polyplexes. *Journal of Gene Medicine* **7**, 1335-1347
- **Boeckle S, Fahrmeir J, Roedl W, Ogris M, Wagner E** (2006) Melittin analogs with high lytic activity at endosomal pH enhance transfection with purified targeted PEI polyplexes. *Journal of Controlled Release* **112**, 240-248
- Boese Q, Leake D, Reynolds A, Read S, Scaringe SA, Marshall WS, Khvorova A (2005) Mechanistic insights aid computational short interfering RNA design. *Methods in Enzymology* 392, 73-96

Bohula EA, Salisbury AJ, Sohail M, Playford MP, Riedemann J, Southern

**EM, Macaulay VM** (2003) The efficacy of small interfering RNAs targeted to the type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF1R) is influenced by secondary structure in the IGF1R transcript. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**, 15991-15997

- Bollerot K, Sugiyama D, Escriou V, Gautier R, Tozer S, Scherman D, Jaffredo T (2006) Widespread lipoplex-mediated gene transfer to vascular endothelial cells and hemangioblasts in the vertebrate embryo. *Developmental Dynamics* 235, 105-114
- Borchard G (2001) Chitosans for gene delivery. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 52, 145-150
- Boussif O, Lezoualc'h F, Zanta MA, Mergny MD, Scherman D, Demeneix B, Behr JP (1995) A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and *in vivo*: polyethylenimine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **92**, 7297-7301
- Braasch DA, Jensen S, Liu Y, Kaur K, Arar K, White MA, Corey DR (2003) RNA interference in mammalian cells by chemically-modified RNA. *Biochemistry* 42, 7967-7975
- Braasch DA, Paroo Z, Constantinescu A, Ren G, Oz OK, Mason RP, Corey DR (2004) Biodistribution of phosphodiester and phosphorothioate siRNA. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters 14, 1139-1143
- Bradley SP, Rastellini C, da Costa MA, Kowalik TF, Bloomenthal AB, Brown M, Cicalese L, Basadonna GP, Uknis ME (2005) Gene silencing in the endocrine pancreas mediated by short-interfering RNA. *Pancreas* 31, 373-379
- Chien PY, Wang J, Carbonaro D, Lei S, Miller B, Sheikh S, Ali SM, Ahmad MU, Ahmad I (2005) Novel cationic cardiolipin analogue-based liposome for efficient DNA and small interfering RNA delivery *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Cancer Gene Therapy* 12, 321-328
- Dande P, Prakash TP, Sioufi N, Gaus H, Jarres R, Berdeja A, Swayze EE, Griffey RH, Bhat B (2006) Improving RNA interference in mammalian cells by 4'-thio-modified small interfering RNA (siRNA): effect on siRNA activity and nuclease stability when used in combination with 2'-O-alkyl modifications. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* **49**, 1624-1634
- Ding Y, Lawrence CE (2003) A statistical sampling algorithm for RNA secondary structure prediction. Nucleic Acids Research 31, 7280-7301
- Donahue RE, Kessler SW, Bodine D, McDonagh K, Dunbar C, Goodman S, Agricola B, Byrne E, Raffeld M, Moen R, Bacher J, Zsebo KM, Nienhuis AW (1992) Helper virus induced T cell lymphoma in nonhuman primates after retroviral mediated gene transfer. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 176, 1125-1135
- Donis-Keller H (1979) Site specific enzymatic cleavage of RNA. Nucleic Acids Research 7, 179-192
- Dorn G, Patel S, Wotherspoon G, Hemmings-Mieszczak M, Barclay J, Natt FJ, Martin P, Bevan S, Fox A, Ganju P, Wishart W, Hall J (2004) siRNA relieves chronic neuropathic pain. *Nucleic Acids Research* 32, e49
- Dowler T, Bergeron D, Tedeschi AL, Paquet L, Ferrari N, Damha MJ (2006) Improvements in siRNA properties mediated by 2'-deoxy-2'-fluoro-β-D-arabinonucleic acid (FANA). *Nucleic Acids Research* **34**, 1669-1675
- **Dykxhoorn DM, Lieberman J** (2005) The silent revolution: RNA interference as basic biology, research tool, and therapeutic. *Annual Review of Medicine* **56**, 401-423
- Elbashir SM, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T (2001) RNA interference is mediated by 21- and 22-nucleotide RNAs. *Genes and Development* **15**, 188-200
- Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Weber K, Tuschl T (2002) Analysis of gene function in somatic mammalian cells using small interfering RNAs. *Methods* 26, 199-213
- Elbashir SM, Martinez J, Patkaniowska A, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T (2001a) Functional anatomy of siRNAs for mediating efficient RNAi in Drosophila melanogaster embryo lysate. The EMBO Journal 20, 6877-6888
- Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Lendeckel W, Yalcin A, Weber K, Tuschl T (2001b) Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. *Nature* **411**, 494-498
- Elmen J, Thonberg H, Ljungberg K, Frieden M, Westergaard M, Xu Y, Wahren B, Liang Z, Orum H, Koch T, Wahlestedt C (2005) Locked nucleic acid (LNA) mediated improvements in siRNA stability and functionality. *Nucleic Acids Research* **33**, 439-447
- Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* 391, 806-811
- Ge Q, Filip L, Bai A, Nguyen T, Eisen HN, Chen J (2004) Inhibition of influenza virus production in virus-infected mice by RNA interference. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **101**, 8676-8681
- Geisbert TW, Hensley LE, Kagan E, Yu EZ, Geisbert JB, Daddario-DiCaprio K, Fritz EA, Jahrling PB, McClintock K, Phelps JR, Lee AC, Judge A, MacLachlan I (2006) Postexposure protection of guinea pigs against a lethal ebola virus challenge is conferred by RNA interference. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 193, 1650-1657
- Gibot S, Massin F, Marcou M, Taylor V, Stidwill R, Wilson P, Singer M, Bellingan G (2007) TREM-1 promotes survival during septic shock in mice. *European Journal of Immunology* **37**, 456-466
- Giladi H, Ketzinel-Gilad M, Rivkin L, Felig Y, Nussbaum O, Galun E (2003) Small interfering RNA inhibits hepatitis B virus replication in mice. *Molecular Therapy* **8**, 769-776

- Godbey WT, Wu KK, Mikos AG (1999) Size matters: molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly (ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research* **45**, 268-275
- Grzelinski M, Bader N, Czubayko F, Aigner A (2005) Ribozyme-targeting reveals the rate-limiting role of pleiotrophin in glioblastoma. *International Journal of Cancer* 117, 942-951
- Grzelinski M, Urban-Klein B, Martens T, Lamszus K, Bakowsky U, Hobel S, Czubayko F, Aigner A (2006) RNA interference-mediated gene silencing of pleiotrophin through polyethylenimine-complexed small interfering RNAs *in vivo* exerts antitumoral effects in glioblastoma xenografts. *Human Gene Therapy* 17, 751-766
- Halder J, Kamat AA, Landen CN, Jr., Han LY, Lutgendorf SK, Lin YG, Merritt WM, Jennings NB, Chavez-Reyes A, Coleman RL, Gershenson DM, Schmandt R, Cole SW, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK (2006) Focal adhesion kinase targeting using *in vivo* short interfering RNA delivery in neutral liposomes for ovarian carcinoma therapy. *Clinical Cancer Research* 12, 4916-4924
- Hamar P, Song E, Kokeny G, Chen A, Ouyang N, Lieberman J (2004) Small interfering RNA targeting Fas protects mice against renal ischemiareperfusion injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 14883-14888
- Hammond SM, Bernstein E, Beach D, Hannon GJ (2000) An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in *Drosophila* cells. *Nature* 404, 293-296
- Hannon GJ (2002) RNA interference. Nature 418, 244-251
- Harborth J, Elbashir SM, Vandenburgh K, Manninga H, Scaringe SA, Weber K, Tuschl T (2003) Sequence, chemical, and structural variation of small interfering RNAs and short hairpin RNAs and the effect on mammalian gene silencing. *Antisense and Nucleic Acid Drug Development* 13, 83-105
- Hassani Z, Lemkine GF, Erbacher P, Palmier K, Alfama G, Giovannangeli C, Behr JP, Demeneix BA (2005) Lipid-mediated siRNA delivery down-regulates exogenous gene expression in the mouse brain at picomolar levels. *Journal of Gene Medicine* 7, 198-207
- Heidel JD, Hu S, Liu XF, Triche TJ, Davis ME (2004) Lack of interferon response in animals to naked siRNAs. *Nature Biotechnology* 22, 1579-1582
- Heil F, Hemmi H, Hochrein H, Ampenberger F, Kirschning C, Akira S, Lipford G, Wagner H, Bauer S (2004) Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. *Science* 303, 1526-1529
- Herard AS, Besret L, Dubois A, Dauguet J, Delzescaux T, Hantraye P, Bonvento G, Moya KL (2005) siRNA targeted against amyloid precursor protein impairs synaptic activity in vivo. Neurobiology of Aging 27, 1740-1750
- Hino T, Yokota T, Ito S, Nishina K, Kang YS, Mori S, Hori S, Kanda T, Terasaki T, Mizusawa H (2006) *In vivo* delivery of small interfering RNA targeting brain capillary endothelial cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 340, 263-267
- Hogrefe RI, Lebedev AV, Zon G, Pirollo KF, Rait A, Zhou Q, Yu W, Chang EH (2006) Chemically modified short interfering hybrids (siHYBRIDS): nanoimmunoliposome delivery in vitro and in vivo for RNAi of HER-2. Nucleotides and Nucleic Acids 25, 889-907
- Holen T, Amarzguioui M, Babaie E, Prydz H (2003) Similar behaviour of single-strand and double-strand siRNAs suggests they act through a common RNAi pathway. *Nucleic Acids Research* 31, 2401-2407
- Holen T, Amarzguioui M, Wiiger MT, Babaie E, Prydz H (2002) Positional effects of short interfering RNAs targeting the human coagulation trigger Tissue Factor. *Nucleic Acids Research* **30**, 1757-1766
- Hou JQ, He J, Wang XL, Wen DG, Chen ZX (2006) Effect of small interfering RNA targeting survivin gene on biological behaviour of bladder cancer. *Chinese Medical Journal (English)* 119, 1734-1739
- Jackson AL, Bartz SR, Schelter J, Kobayashi SV, Burchard J, Mao M, Li B, Cavet G, Linsley PS (2003) Expression profiling reveals off-target gene regulation by RNAi. *Nature Biotechnology* 21, 635-637
- Jorgensen R (1990) Altered gene expression in plants due to *trans* interactions between homologous genes. *Trends in Biotechnology* **8**, 340-344
- Judge AD, Sood V, Shaw JR, Fang D, McClintock K, MacLachlan I (2005) Sequence-dependent stimulation of the mammalian innate immune response by synthetic siRNA. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 457-462
- Khvorova A, Reynolds A, Jayasena SD (2003) Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. Cell 115, 209-216
- Kichler A (2004) Gene transfer with modified polyethylenimines. Journal of Gene Medicine 6 Suppl 1, S3-10
- Kim WJ, Chang CW, Lee M, Kim SW (2007) Efficient siRNA delivery using water soluble lipopolymer for anti-angiogenic gene therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release* 18, 357-363
- Klein C, Bock CT, Wedemeyer H, Wustefeld T, Locarnini S, Dienes HP, Kubicka S, Manns MP, Trautwein C (2003) Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication *in vivo* by nucleoside analogues and siRNA. *Gastroenterology* 125, 9-18
- Kretschmer-Kazemi Far R, Sczakiel G (2003) The activity of siRNA in mammalian cells is related to structural target accessibility: a comparison with antisense oligonucleotides. *Nucleic Acids Research* **31**, 4417-4424
- Kursa M, Walker GF, Roessler V, Ogris M, Roedl W, Kircheis R, Wagner E (2003) Novel shielded transferrin-polyethylene glycol-polyethylenimine/ DNA complexes for systemic tumor-targeted gene transfer. *Bioconjugate*

Chemistry 14, 222-231

- Landen CN Jr., Chavez-Reyes A, Bucana C, Schmandt R, Deavers MT, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK (2005) Therapeutic EphA2 gene targeting *in vivo* using neutral liposomal small interfering RNA delivery. *Cancer Research* 65, 6910-6918
- Layzer JM, McCaffrey AP, Tanner AK, Huang Z, Kay MA, Sullenger BA (2004) *In vivo* activity of nuclease-resistant siRNAs. *RNA* **10**, 766-771
- Lee NS, Dohjima T, Bauer G, Li H, Li MJ, Ehsani A, Salvaterra P, Rossi J (2002) Expression of small interfering RNAs targeted against HIV-1 rev transcripts in human cells. *Nature Biotechnology* **20**, 500-505
- Lehrman S (1999) Virus treatment questioned after gene therapy death. *Nature* **401**, 517-518
- Lewis DL, Hagstrom JE, Loomis AG, Wolff JA, Herweijer H (2002) Efficient delivery of siRNA for inhibition of gene expression in postnatal mice. *Nature Genetics* **32**, 107-108
- Li BJ, Tang Q, Cheng D, Qin C, Xie FY, Wei Q, Xu J, Liu Y, Zheng BJ, Woodle MC, Zhong N, Lu PY (2005) Using siRNA in prophylactic and therapeutic regimens against SARS coronavirus in Rhesus macaque. *Nature Medicine* 11, 944-951
- Lin X, Ruan X, Anderson MG, McDowell JA, Kroeger PE, Fesik SW, Shen Y (2005) siRNA-mediated off-target gene silencing triggered by a 7 nt complementation. *Nucleic Acids Research* 33, 4527-4535
- Liu J, Carmell MA, Rivas FV, Marsden CG, Thomson JM, Song JJ, Hammond SM, Joshua-Tor L, Hannon GJ (2004) Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science 305, 1437-1441
- Liu Q, Muruve DA (2003) Molecular basis of the inflammatory response to adenovirus vectors. *Gene Therapy* 10, 935-940
- Lomas-Neira JL, Chung CS, Wesche DE, Perl M, Ayala A (2005) In vivo gene silencing (with siRNA) of pulmonary expression of MIP-2 versus KC results in divergent effects on hemorrhage-induced, neutrophil-mediated septic acute lung injury. Journal of Leukocyte Biology 77, 846-853
- Luo MC, Zhang DQ, Ma SW, Huang YY, Shuster SJ, Porreca F, Lai J (2005) An efficient intrathecal delivery of small interfering RNA to the spinal cord and peripheral neurons. *Molecular Pain* 1, 29
- Ma Z, Li J, He F, Wilson A, Pitt B, Li S (2005) Cationic lipids enhance siRNA-mediated interferon response in mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 330, 755-759
- Maksimenko A, Polard V, Villemeur M, Elhamess H, Couvreur P, Bertrand JR, Aboubakar M, Gottikh M, Malvy C (2005) In vivo potentialities of EWS-Fli-1 targeted antisense oligonucleotides-nanospheres complexes. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1058, 52-61
- Mao S, Neu M, Germershaus O, Merkel O, Sitterberg J, Bakowsky U, Kissel T (2006) Influence of polyethylene glycol chain length on the physicochemical and biological properties of poly(ethylene imine)-graft-poly(ethylene glycol) block copolymer/SiRNA polyplexes. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 17, 1209-1218
- Medarova Z, Pham W, Farrar C, Petkova V, Moore A (2007) *In vivo* imaging of siRNA delivery and silencing in tumors. *Nature Medicine* 13, 372-377
- Merdan T, Callahan J, Petersen H, Kunath K, Bakowsky U, Kopeckova P, Kissel T, Kopecek J (2003) Pegylated polyethylenimine-Fab' antibody fragment conjugates for targeted gene delivery to human ovarian carcinoma cells. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 14, 989-996
- Miller CR, Bondurant B, McLean SD, McGovern KA, O'Brien DF (1998) Liposome-cell interactions *in vitro*: effect of liposome surface charge on the binding and endocytosis of conventional and sterically stabilized liposomes. *Biochemistry* 37, 12875-12883
- Minakuchi Y, Takeshita F, Kosaka N, Sasaki H, Yamamoto Y, Kouno M, Honma K, Nagahara S, Hanai K, Sano A, Kato T, Terada M, Ochiya T (2004) Atelocollagen-mediated synthetic small interfering RNA delivery for effective gene silencing *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Nucleic Acids Research* **32**, e109
- Morales A, Paris R, Villanueva A, Llacuna L, Garcia-Ruiz C, Fernandez-Checa JC (2007) Pharmacological inhibition or small interfering RNA targeting acid ceramidase sensitizes hepatoma cells to chemotherapy and reduces tumor growth *in vivo*. Oncogene 26, 905-916
- Morrissey DV, Blanchard K, Shaw L, Jensen K, Lockridge JA, Dickinson B, McSwiggen JA, Vargeese C, Bowman K, Shaffer CS, Polisky BA, Zinnen S (2005) Activity of stabilized short interfering RNA in a mouse model of hepatitis B virus replication. *Hepatology* 41, 1349-1356
- Morrissey DV, Lockridge JA, Shaw L, Blanchard K, Jensen K, Breen W, Hartsough K, Machemer L, Radka S, Jadhav V, Vaish N, Zinnen S, Vargeese C, Bowman K, Shaffer CS, Jeffs LB, Judge A, MacLachlan I, Polisky B (2005) Potent and persistent *in vivo* anti-HBV activity of chemically modified siRNAs. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 1002-1007
- Nakai N, Kishida T, Shin-Ya M, Imanishi J, Ueda Y, Kishimoto S, Mazda O (2007) Therapeutic RNA interference of malignant melanoma by electrotransfer of small interfering RNA targeting Mitf. *Gene Therapy* 14, 357-365
- Napoli C, Lemieux C, Jorgensen R (1990) Introduction of a chimeric chalcone synthase gene into petunia results in reversible co-suppression of homologous genes in *trans. Plant Cell* **2**, 279-289
- Neu M, Fischer D, Kissel T (2005) Recent advances in rational gene transfer vector design based on poly(ethylene imine) and its derivatives. *Journal of Gene Medicine* 7, 992-1009

Nogawa M, Yuasa T, Kimura S, Tanaka M, Kuroda J, Sato K, Yokota A, Se-

gawa H, Toda Y, Kageyama S, Yoshiki T, Okada Y, Maekawa T (2005) Intravesical administration of small interfering RNA targeting PLK-1 successfully prevents the growth of bladder cancer. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **115**, 978-985

- Ochiya T, Takahama Y, Nagahara S, Sumita Y, Hisada A, Itoh H, Nagai Y, Terada M (1999) New delivery system for plasmid DNA *in vivo* using atelocollagen as a carrier material: the Minipellet. *Nature Medicine* 5, 707-710
- Ocker M, Neureiter D, Lueders M, Zopf S, Ganslmayer M, Hahn EG, Herold C, Schuppan D (2005) Variants of bcl-2 specific siRNA for silencing antiapoptotic bcl-2 in pancreatic cancer. *Gut* 54, 1298-1308
- Parrish S, Fleenor J, Xu S, Mello C, Fire A (2000) Functional anatomy of a dsRNA trigger: differential requirement for the two trigger strands in RNA interference. *Molecular Cell* 6, 1077-1087
- Perl M, Chung CS, Lomas-Neira J, Rachel TM, Biffl WL, Cioffi WG, Ayala A (2005) Silencing of fas, but not caspase-8, in lung epithelial cells ameliorates pulmonary apoptosis, inflammation, and neutrophil influx after hemorrhagic shock and sepsis. *American Journal of Pathology* 167, 1545-1559
- Pille JY, Li H, Blot E, Bertrand JR, Pritchard LL, Opolon P, Maksimenko A, Lu H, Vannier JP, Soria J, Malvy C, Soria C (2006) Intravenous delivery of anti-RhoA small interfering RNA loaded in nanoparticles of chitosan in mice: safety and efficacy in xenografted aggressive breast cancer. *Human Gene Therapy* 17, 1019-1026
- Pirollo KF, Zon G, Rait A, Zhou Q, Yu W, Hogrefe R, Chang EH (2006) Tumor-targeting nanoimmunoliposome complex for short interfering RNA delivery. *Human Gene Therapy* 17, 117-124
- Prakash TP, Allerson CR, Dande P, Vickers TA, Sioufi N, Jarres R, Baker BF, Swayze EE, Griffey RH, Bhat B (2005) Positional effect of chemical modifications on short interference RNA activity in mammalian cells. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 48, 4247-4253
- Rand TA, Ginalski K, Grishin NV, Wang X (2004) Biochemical identification of Argonaute 2 as the sole protein required for RNA-induced silencing complex activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 14385-14389
- Reich SJ, Fosnot J, Kuroki A, Tang W, Yang X, Maguire AM, Bennett J, Tolentino MJ (2003) Small interfering RNA (siRNA) targeting VEGF effectively inhibits ocular neovascularization in a mouse model. *Molecular Vision* 9, 210-216
- Reynolds A, Leake D, Boese Q, Scaringe S, Marshall WS, Khvorova A (2004) Rational siRNA design for RNA interference. *Nature Biotechnology* **22**, 326-330
- Rivas FV, Tolia NH, Song JJ, Aragon JP, Liu J, Hannon GJ, Joshua-Tor L (2005) Purified Argonaute2 and an siRNA form recombinant human RISC. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology* **12**, 340-349
- Santel A, Aleku M, Keil O, Endruschat J, Esche V, Fisch G, Dames S, Loffler K, Fechtner M, Arnold W, Giese K, Klippel A, Kaufmann J (2006) A novel siRNA-lipoplex technology for RNA interference in the mouse vascular endothelium. *Gene Therapy* 13, 1222-1234
- Santel A, Aleku M, Keil O, Endruschat J, Esche V, Durieux B, Loffler K, Fechtner M, Rohl T, Fisch G, Dames S, Arnold W, Giese K, Klippel A, Kaufmann J (2006) RNA interference in the mouse vascular endothelium by systemic administration of siRNA-lipoplexes for cancer therapy. *Gene Therapy* 13, 1360-1370
- Sato Y, Ajiki T, Inoue S, Fujishiro J, Yoshino H, Igarashi Y, Hakamata Y, Kaneko T, Murakamid T, Kobayashi E (2005) Gene silencing in rat-liver and limb grafts by rapid injection of small interference RNA. *Transplantation* 79, 240-243
- Schiffelers RM, Ansari A, Xu J, Zhou Q, Tang Q, Storm G, Molema G, Lu PY, Scaria PV, Woodle MC (2004) Cancer siRNA therapy by tumor selective delivery with ligand-targeted sterically stabilized nanoparticle. *Nucleic Acids Research* 32, e149
- Schlingensiepen KH, Schlingensiepen R, Steinbrecher A, Hau P, Bogdahn U, Fischer-Blass B, Jachimczak P (2006) Targeted tumor therapy with the TGF-β2 antisense compound AP 12009. *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews* **17**, 129-139
- Schwarz DS, Hutvagner G, Du T, Xu Z, Aronin N, Zamore PD (2003) Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. *Cell* **115**, 199-208
- Shen J, Samul R, Silva RL, Akiyama H, Liu H, Saishin Y, Hackett SF, Zinnen S, Kossen K, Fosnaugh K, Vargeese C, Gomez A, Bouhana K, Aitchison R, Pavco P, Campochiaro PA (2006) Suppression of ocular neovascularization with siRNA targeting VEGF receptor 1. *Gene Therapy* 13, 225-234
- Shir A, Ogris M, Wagner E, Levitzki A (2006) EGF receptor-targeted synthetic double-stranded RNA eliminates glioblastoma, breast cancer, and adenocarcinoma tumors in mice. *PLoS Medicine* 3, e6
- Siner JM, Jiang G, Cohen ZI, Shan P, Zhang X, Lee CG, Elias JA, Lee PA (2007) VEGF-induced heme oxygenase-1 confers cytoprotection from lethal hyperoxia *in vivo. The FASEB Journal* **21**, 000-000
- Sioud M (2005) Induction of inflammatory cytokines and interferon responses by double-stranded and single-stranded siRNAs is sequence-dependent and requires endosomal localization. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 348, 1079-1090
- Sioud M, Sorensen DR (2003) Cationic liposome-mediated delivery of siRNAs in adult mice. *Biochemical Biophysical Research Communications*

312, 1220-1225

- Sledz CA, Holko M, de Veer MJ, Silverman RH, Williams BR (2003) Activation of the interferon system by short-interfering RNAs. *Nature Cell Biology* 5, 834-839
- Song E, Lee SK, Wang J, Ince N, Ouyang N, Min J, Chen J, Shankar P, Lieberman J (2003) RNA interference targeting Fas protects mice from fulminant hepatitis. *Nature Medicine* 9, 347-351
- Song E, Zhu P, Lee SK, Chowdhury D, Kussman S, Dykxhoorn DM, Feng Y, Palliser D, Weiner DB, Shankar P, Marasco WA, Lieberman J (2005) Antibody mediated *in vivo* delivery of small interfering RNAs via cell-surface receptors. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 709-717
- Soutschek J, Akinc A, Bramlage B, Charisse K, Constien R, Donoghue M, Elbashir S, Geick A, Hadwiger P, Harborth J, John M, Kesavan V, Lavine G, Pandey RK, Racie T, Rajeev KG, Rohl I, Toudjarska I, Wang G, Wuschko S, Bumcrot D, Koteliansky V, Limmer S, Manoharan M, Vornlocher HP (2004) Therapeutic silencing of an endogenous gene by systemic administration of modified siRNAs. *Nature* 432, 173-178
- Sun JY, Anand-Jawa V, Chatterjee S, Wong KK (2003) Immune responses to adeno-associated virus and its recombinant vectors. *Gene Therapy* 10, 964-976
- Takahashi Y, Nishikawa M, Kobayashi N, Takakura Y (2005) Gene silencing in primary and metastatic tumors by small interfering RNA delivery in mice: quantitative analysis using melanoma cells expressing firefly and sea pansy luciferases. *Journal of Controlled Release* 105, 332-343
- Takei Y, Kadomatsu K, Yuzawa Y, Matsuo S, Muramatsu T (2004) A small interfering RNA targeting vascular endothelial growth factor as cancer therapeutics. *Cancer Research* 64, 3365-3370
- Takeshita F, Minakuchi Y, Nagahara S, Honma K, Sasaki H, Hirai K, Teratani T, Namatame N, Yamamoto Y, Hanai K, Kato T, Sano A, Ochiya T (2005) Efficient delivery of small interfering RNA to bone-metastatic tumors by using atelocollagen *in vivo*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 102, 12177-12182
- Tan PH, Yang LC, Shih HC, Lan KC, Cheng JT (2005) Gene knockdown with intrathecal siRNA of NMDA receptor NR2B subunit reduces formalininduced nociception in the rat. *Gene Therapy* 12, 59-66
- Tang MX, Szoka FC (1997) The influence of polymer structure on the interactions of cationic polymers with DNA and morphology of the resulting complexes. *Gene Therapy* 4, 823-832
- Thakker DR, Natt F, Husken D, van der Putten H, Maier R, Hoyer D, Cryan JF (2005) siRNA-mediated knockdown of the serotonin transporter in the adult mouse brain. *Molecular Psychiatry* 10, 782-789, 714
- Thakker DR, Natt F, Husken D, Maier R, Muller M, van der Putten H, Hoyer D, Cryan JF (2004) Neurochemical and behavioral consequences of widespread gene knockdown in the adult mouse brain by using nonviral RNA interference. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 17270-17275
- Thomas M, Lu JJ, Ge Q, Zhang C, Chen J, Klibanov AM (2005) Full deacylation of polyethylenimine dramatically boosts its gene delivery efficiency and specificity to mouse lung. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102, 5679-5684
- Tompkins SM, Lo CY, Tumpey TM, Epstein SL (2004) Protection against lethal influenza virus challenge by RNA interference *in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 8682-8686
- Toub N, Bertrand JR, Tamaddon A, Elhamess H, Hillaireau H, Maksimenko A, Maccario J, Malvy C, Fattal E, Couvreur P (2006) Efficacy of siRNA nanocapsules targeted against the EWS-Flil oncogene in Ewing sarcoma. *Pharmaceutical Research* 23, 892-900
- Urban-Klein B, Werth S, Abuharbeid S, Czubayko F, Aigner A (2005) RNAi-mediated gene-targeting through systemic application of polyethylenimine (PEI)-complexed siRNA *in vivo. Gene Therapy* **12**, 461-466
- Verma UN, Surabhi RM, Schmaltieg A, Becerra C, Gaynor RB (2003) Small interfering RNAs directed against β-catenin inhibit the *in vitro* and *in vivo* growth of colon cancer cells. *Clinical Cancer Research* 9, 1291-1300
- Vickers TA, Koo S, Bennett CF, Crooke ST, Dean NM, Baker BF (2003) Efficient reduction of target RNAs by small interfering RNA and RNase Hdependent antisense agents. A comparative analysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 7108-7118
- von Gersdorff K, Sanders NN, Vandenbroucke R, De Smedt SC, Wagner E, Ogris M (2006) The internalization route resulting in successful gene expression depends on both cell line and polyethylenimine polyplex type. *Molecular Therapy* 14, 745-753
- Wagner E, Kircheis R, Walker GF (2004) Targeted nucleic acid delivery into tumors: new avenues for cancer therapy. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy* 58, 152-161
- Werth S, Urban-Klein B, Dai L, Hobel S, Grzelinski M, Bakowsky U, Czubayko F, Aigner A (2006) A low molecular weight fraction of polyethylenimine (PEI) displays increased transfection efficiency of DNA and siRNA in fresh or lyophilized complexes. *Journal of Controlled Release* **112**, 257-270
- Whelan J (2005) First clinical data on RNAi. Drug Discovery Today 10, 1014-1015
- Xu Y, Zhang HY, Thormeyer D, Larsson O, Du Q, Elmen J, Wahlestedt C, Liang Z (2003) Effective small interfering RNAs and phosphorothioate antisense DNAs have different preferences for target sites in the luciferase

mRNAs. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 306, 712-717

- Yang D, Lu H, Erickson JW (2000) Evidence that processed small dsRNAs may mediate sequence-specific mRNA degradation during RNAi in *Drosophila* embryos. *Current Biology* 10, 1191-1200
- Yamamoto H, Muramatsu H, Nakanishi T, Natori Y, Sakuma S, Ishiguro N, Muramatsu T (2006) Midkine as a molecular target: Comparison of effects of chondroitin sulfate E and siRNA. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 351, 915-919
- Yano J, Hirabayashi K, Nakagawa S, Yamaguchi T, Nogawa M, Kashimori I, Naito H, Kitagawa H, Ishiyama K, Ohgi T, Irimura T (2004) Antitumor activity of small interfering RNA/cationic liposome complex in mouse models of cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research* 10, 7721-7726
- Zamore PD, Tuschl T, Sharp PA, Bartel DP (2000) RNAi: double-stranded RNA directs the ATP-dependent cleavage of mRNA at 21 to 23 nucleotide intervals. *Cell* **101**, 25-33
- Zender L, Hutker S, Liedtke C, Tillmann HL, Zender S, Mundt B, Waltemathe M, Gosling T, Flemming P, Malek NP, Trautwein C, Manns MP, Kuhnel F, Kubicka S (2003) Caspase 8 small interfering RNA prevents acute liver failure in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 100, 7797-7802

- Zhang G, Gao X, Song YK, Vollmer R, Stolz DB, Gasiorowski JZ, Dean DA, Liu D (2004) Hydroporation as the mechanism of hydrodynamic delivery. *Gene Therapy* 11, 675-682
- Zhang L, Yang N, Mohamed-Hadley A, Rubin SC, Coukos G (2003) Vectorbased RNAi, a novel tool for isoform-specific knock-down of VEGF and anti-angiogenesis gene therapy of cancer. *Biochemical and Biophysical Res*earch Communications 303, 1169-1178
- Zhang X, Shan P, Jiang D, Noble PW, Abraham NG, Kappas A, Lee PJ (2004) Small interfering RNA targeting heme oxygenase-1 enhances ischemia-reperfusion-induced lung apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 10677-10684
- Zhu H, Liang ZY, Ren XY, Liu TH (2006) Small interfering RNAs targeting mutant K-ras inhibit human pancreatic carcinoma cells growth *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Cancer Biology and Therapy 5, 1693-1698
- Zimmermann TS, Lee AC, Akinc A, Bramlage B, Bumcrot D, Fedoruk MN, Harborth J, Heyes JA, Jeffs LB, John M, Judge AD, Lam K, McClintock K, Nechev LV, Palmer LR, Racie T, Rohl I, Seiffert S, Shanmugam S, Sood V, Soutschek J, Toudjarska I, Wheat AJ, Yaworski, E, Zedalis W, Koteliansky V, Manoharan M, Vornlocher HP, MacLachlan I (2006) RNAi-mediated gene silencing in non-human primates. *Nature* 441, 111-114